COUNCIL

Monday 22 April 2013

COUNCILLORS PRESENT: Councillors Abbasi (Lord Mayor), Benjamin (Deputy Lord Mayor), Sinclair (Sheriff), Altaf-Khan, Armitage, Baxter, Brett, Campbell, Canning, Clack, Clarkson, Cook, Coulter, Curran, Darke, Fooks, Fry, Goddard, Gotch, Haines, Hollick, Jones, Kennedy, Khan, Lloyd-Shogbesan, Lygo, Malik, McCready, Pressel, Price, Rowley, Royce, Rundle, Sanders, Seamons, Simmons, Smith, Tanner, Turner, Van Nooijen, Williams and Wolff.

143. CHANGE TO THE ORDER OF BUSINESS

The Lord Mayor asked Council if it would agree to the order of business being changed to take agenda item 11 – Governance Review, after the break for Council Tea.

Council agreed to change the order of business.

144. MINUTES

Council agreed to approve:

(a) The minutes of the ordinary meeting held on 18th February 2013, subject to the following amendment;

In minute 108 – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2013-14 to 2016-17 and 2013-14 Budget – in the fifteenth paragraph to delete the word "undertake" and insert the words "as a cycle safety measure" in the fourth line.

In minute 132 – Questions on Notice from Members of Council, Question 1 – Councillor Jean Fooks said that she has not received a response from Councillor Steven Curran.

- (b) The minutes of the ordinary meeting held on 25th February 2013;
- (c) The minutes of the extraordinary meeting held on 13th March 2013.

145. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No declarations on interest were made.

146. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Rae Humberstone, Mark Mills, Helen O'Hara and Ruth Wilkinson.

147. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES

No appointments were made.

148. LORD MAYOR ANNOUNCEMENTS

- (a) The Lord Mayor informed Council that he had met the Queen at the Maundy Thursday Service held on 20th March 2013 at Christ Church Cathedral.
- (b) The Lord Mayor on behalf of himself and the Council wished those City Councillors who were standing in the County Council elections on 2nd May 2013 good luck.

149. ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE SHERIFF

No announcements were made.

150. ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

The Leader of the Council made the following announcements:

- (a) Two teams have been nominated for the Municipal Journal Awards which recognised innovation and best practice in local government. The nominated teams were Law and Governance (under the Legal Services award) and Barton West Development (under Community Investment). The winners will be announced at an awards ceremony in London on 20th June 2013.
- (b) The Secretary of State has called in the planning appeal on the Lord Nuffield Club, which had previously been refused planning permission by the East Area Planning Committee on the grounds of traffic, parking, congestion and the loss of open space.

151. ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE, THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER AND THE MONITORING OFFICER

No announcements were made.

152. ADDRESSES BY THE PUBLIC

Council received five addresses to Council (the text of these addresses are attached to these minutes)

- (1) Ian Smith (Chair of the City of Oxford Swimming Club) Temple Cowley Pools
- (2) Peggy Seeger Temple Cowley Pools
- (3) Sushila Dhall Campaign to Protect Port Meadow

A note detailing comments by officers was also submitted

- (4) William Clark Town Green Application Judicial Review
- (5) Sietske Boeles Surplus Student Accommodation in East Oxford

153. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC

Seven questions were submitted by members of the public as follows:

(1) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Adrian Arbib

Roger Dudman Way - Photomontages

Can you please clarify which photomontages in relation to the controversial Roger Dudman Way development (11/02881/FUL) were first available on the City Council website? The briefing note by Michael Crofton-Briggs (April 2013) refers to photomontages dated November 21 2011. However there are no photomontages up on the Council website for that date but only ones dated 21 December 2011 and referred to as additional information.

Can you confirm that these 21 December 2011 photomontages were uploaded on the Council's website at the time of consultation and determination of the planning application?

Response: Adrian Arbib did not attend the Council meeting and received the following written response:

"There were a number of images received on 21st December <u>not</u> the 21st November. These are the ones from Port Meadow showing the general location of Phase 1 and the current proposal however, they are <u>not</u> the wirelines which were received later and loaded up on 8th February.

(2) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Sushila Dhall

Roger Dudman Way – Officer advice

Can Oxford City Council clarify it the West Area Planning Committee (WAPC) acted ultra vires when it instructed the Head of City Development to negotiate with Oxford University to ameliorate the height and mass of the Roger Dudman Way development? If WAPC has acted ultra vires, then who in the City Council has the executive power to take this forward?

Response: Council asked the Head of City Development (HoDC) to bring forward as soon as possible in the New Year, a report to WAPC, setting out any general lessons that need to be learned from the handling of this application and an assessment of the scope for further measures that are legally possible and that would contribute in the long and the short term to mitigate the impact on the views looking south from Port Meadow. The

HoDC submitted a report to the 7th February 2013 meeting of the WAPC. The meeting resolved to:

- (1) instruct the HoDC to negotiate with the University of Oxford in order to ameliorate the size and impact of the development;
- (2) instruct the HoDC to report back on the progress of those negotiations (by the April 2013 meeting at the latest);
- (3) establish a Working Party to recommend to the Council any changes to policies or procedure which the process of handling and determination of the application (including the pre-application and consultation stages) might suggest would be desirable.
- (1) and (2) are intrinsic to assessing the scope for further measures as referred to in the resolution of Council. (3) is intrinsic to establishing general lessons to be learned as referred to in the resolution of Council. Officers are therefore content that the WAPC did not exceed the scope of its authority.

(3) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Richard Luff

Roger Dudman Way design specifications

What is the size of the Roger Dudman Way development (11/02881/FUL)

- In m2 of floor space
- In m2 as its external building footprint
- In elevation (metres above sea level) of each of the 8 buildings
- of overall height of each of the buildings from external ground level to apex of roof (I understand there will be two heights, one for the 2 buildings lower in height and one for the other 6 buildings)

Response:

First bullet point – 13,500 sqm

Second bullet point – The total footprint is approx. 3,250 sqm in the accommodation blocks, plus 140 sqm for the energy centre and pavilion (common room etc.)

Third bullet point – External ground levels range between approximately 58.0 and 59.4 above ordinance datum

Fourth bullet point – The east – west blocks (1,2,3,4,6,7) are 17.1m to ridge: north – south blocks (5,8) are 14.2m to ridge.

(4) Question to the Board Member, Leisure Services (Councillor Van Coulter) from Nigel Gibson

Oxford Spires Academy Gym - Funding

Council recently announced their subsidy of £200,000 to Oxford Spires Academy for a gym, revealed by Councillor Coulter in a newspaper article

as a replacement for Temple Cowley Pools, and without any previous notice to the public. What consultation has the Council carried out to establish that this part-time facility is what the public inside the ring road really want as a replacement, and is Councillor Coulter aware that you can't swim in a gym?

Response: I am aware that you cannot swim in a gym. But I am also aware that you cannot dive in a pool that's not fit for purpose – as has been the case for the dive pool at Temple Cowley Pools since 2002.

In its consideration of the options reviewed in September 2010, a commitment was made by the City Council's Executive Board to provide alternative leisure facilities within the Cowley locality as a result of the community consultation carried out by the City Council.

(5) Question to the Board Member, Leisure Services (Councillor Van Coulter) from Jane Alexander

Temple Cowley Pools running costs

In an interview with BBC Radio Oxford last Wednesday morning, Councillor Coulter admitted that the annual running costs of the Temple Cowley Pools is <u>not</u> over half a million pounds as the Council has maintained previously, but about one hundred thousand pounds. He then went on to say that the running costs of the proposed new pool in Blackbird Leys would be "much lower". Can the Councillors please explain this statement, given that the Council has previously published that the annual payment to Fusion for the proposed new pool will be in the region of £130,000 - £150,000?

Response: In my comments to the BBC, I stated that the costs for maintenance and repairs at the Temple Cowley facility averaged over £100,000 for each of the past five years.

There are sets of additional expenses aside from maintenance and repair costs and I remain confident that the Council is fair in asserting that Temple Cowley Pools and Gym has cost the Council Tax payer's of Oxford half a million pounds a year to run.

(6) Question to the Board Member, Finance and Efficiency (Councillor Ed Turner) from Sietske Boeles

Student Council Tax exemptions

How many properties are currently exempt from paying Council Tax due to being occupied by students. Can you please give a breakdown of N and M categories? How does these figures for N properties compare to the previous year for the same period?

Response:

| 01.04.12 | 01.04.13 |
|----------|----------|
| | |

| Exemption M – Halls of Residence | 2,488 | 2,595 |
|-------------------------------------|-------|-------|
| Exemption N – Student Exemptions | 2,846 | 2,762 |

(7) Question to the Leader of the Council (Councillor Bob Price) from Ruth Fox

<u>Advertisements</u>

Many of the buses in Oxford carry advertisement for 'Choose Life', a campaign run by the organisation Christian Concern. The aim of this campaign, according to their website, is to 'make abortion history'. 'Choose Life' advertises itself as a pregnancy advisory service: they ask 'Pregnant? Worried? Don't know what to do?' The response below: 'We can help. Choose life'.

Woman who are unsure whether to continue a pregnancy should be offered impartial, medically sound advice on the options available to them. The 'Choose Life' campaign will, on the contrary, be offering advice to women with the aim of fulfilling its ambition to 'make abortion history'. Women will almost certainly be discouraged from seeking an abortion, and very likely be misled about what it will involve. A campaign such as 'Choose Life' does not have the best interests of women at heart: rather, it is an attempt to restrict women's freedom of choice, by convincing them to continue with a pregnancy that they may not want or which may have negative consequences for their physical and metal wellbeing.

My question to the Council is: how can we allow the display of such adverts in a city which, I would like to think, places value on women's freedom of choice and right to determine the course of their own lives? I would like to request that the Council take whatever action it can to ensure these advertisements are removed from the buses.

Response: Ruth Fox did not attend the Council meeting and received the following written response:

The Council is responsible for advertisement control under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. An advertisement displayed on a (normally moving) vehicle is however exempted from the Council's control. Even where adverts are subject to the Council's control, the purposes for which advertisement control can be exercised are prescribed. The Council can act only in the interests of amenity and public safety. Where advertisement consents are granted the Council is prohibited from imposing any limitation or condition relating to the subject matter, content or design of what is to be displayed. The Council is not able to use advertisement control to exercise a censorship function. The Advertising Standards Authority may be able to assist where the content of an advertisement is considered to be problematic.

154. GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Council had before it the following (previously circulated, now appended):

- (1) Report of the Head of Law and Governance which was submitted to the City Executive Board on 10th April 2013. The report presented the outcome of the review of the Council's governance arrangements.
- (2) Extract from the minutes of the City Executive Board held on 10th April 2013;
- (3) A note detailing proposed Green Group amendments to the recommendations listed in the main report.

Councillor Price moved the report.

Councillor Williams thanked Councillor Price and the Liberal Democrat Group Members who came to the Cross Party Working Group throughout the year and for their work in connection to the Governance Review. He also wished to thank Officers, especially William Reed (Democratic Services Manager) and Mathew Metcalfe (Democratic and Electoral Services Officer) for their support and advice.

Green Group amendment 1

Councillor Williams seconded by Councillor Goddard moved his first amendment.

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was not adopted.

Green Group amendment 2

Councillor Williams seconded by Councillor Simmons moved his second amendment

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was not adopted.

Green Group amendment 3

Councillor Williams seconded by Councillor Fooks moved his third amendment.

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was not adopted.

Green Group amendment 4

Councillor Williams seconded by Councillor Fooks moved his fourth amendment.

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was not adopted.

Green Group amendments 5(a), 5(b) 5(c) and 5(d)

Councillor Williams moved amendment 5(a).

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was not adopted.

Councillor Williams moved amendment 5(b)

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was adopted as follows:

With regard to Motions on Notice:

- Substantive amendment to Motions must be submitted no later that 1.5 working days before the meeting so that they may be circulated with the briefing note.
- Minor technical or limited wording amendments may be submitted during the meeting but must be written down and circulated.

Councillor Williams moved amendment 5(c)

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was adopted as follows:

With regard to Members reporting to Council to replace the proposed wording on Procedure Rule 11.14 and 11.15 and replace with the following wording:

Members who are Council representatives on external bodies or Chairs of Council Committees who consider that a significant decision or event has taken place, will give notice of up to 1.5 working days prior to the Council meeting to present a written or oral report on the event of a significant decision and how it may influence future events. All Council members will be able to ask for a report to be given at Council by the Council representative on a significant change or important event if they lodge their request up to 4.5 working days prior to the Council meeting.

Councillor Williams moved amendment 5(d)

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was not adopted.

Green Group amendment 6

Councillor Williams seconded by Councillor Simmons moved his sixth amendment.

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was not adopted.

Green Group amendment 7

Councillor Williams seconded by Councillor Campbell moved his seventh amendment.

Following a debate, Council voted and the amendment was not adopted.

Councillor Price summed up at the end of the debate and Council agreed:

- (a) From the start of the Council Year 2013/14, that:
 - (1) The single executive member arrangements for decision-making be discontinued and to note that the responsibilities of single members have been reallocated by the City Executive Board as set

- out in Annex 1 of the report and that the Constitution has been amended accordingly;
- (2) The City Executive Board agenda to contain an additional item relating to addresses by Councillors to the Board and that the Constitution be amended as set out in Annex 3 of the report;
- (3) One Scrutiny Committee (and not two Scrutiny Committees) be appointed as follows:
 - (a) To be responsible for co-ordinating the scrutiny work programme and for commissioning a range of review and standing panels;
 - (b) To consist of 12 members appointed in accordance with political balance requirements.
- (4) The changes in Council procedures set out in Annex 6(a) of the report and contained in the updated Section 11 of the Constitution that forms Annex 6(b) to the report be introduced subject to the following adopted amendments:

With regard to Motions on Notice:

- Substantive amendment to Motions must be submitted no later than 1.5 working days before the meeting so that they may be circulated with the briefing note.
- Minor technical or limited wording amendments may be submitted during the meeting but must be written down and circulated.

With regard to Members reporting to Council to replace the proposed wording on Procedure Rule 11.14 and 11.15 and replace with the following wording:

Members who are Council representatives on external bodies or Chairs of Council Committees who consider that a significant decision or event has taken place, will give notice of up to 1.5 working days prior to the Council meeting to present a written or oral report on the event of a significant decision and how it may influence future events. All Council members will be able to ask for a report to be given at Council by the Council representative on a significant change or important event if they lodge their request up to 4.5 working days prior to the Council meeting.

- (b) That the programme of Council and Committee meetings for 2013/14 and 2014/15 be approved as set out in Annex 2(a) and 2(b) of the report, noting that:
 - (i) The 2013/14 programme replaces that agreed by Council on 20th February 2012;

- (ii) The programme for May and June 2014 may need to be adjusted depending upon the date set for the European Elections (22nd May or 5th June) and any adjustment to the date of the local government elections (1st May at present);
- (iii) That 10 City Executive Board and 10 Scrutiny Committee meetings have been programmed for 2013/14 with no such meetings programmed for May 2014 (the month when the City Council elections are at present programmed), and that 11 City Executive Board and 11 Scrutiny Committee meetings have been programmed for 2014/15 with meetings programmed for May 2015 (the month when a General Election could occur).
- (c) To note that monthly Board Member briefings on current issues, open to all members, will be arranged and conducted by Officers and that dates for these briefings are contained in the programme of Council and Committee meetings that forms Annex 2(a) to the report;
- (d) To note that Officers will present an updated Member/Officer Protocol to Council in June 2013 and in the meantime to note that Officers will refresh staff awareness of its provisions in particular as far as Ward references are concerned:
- (e) To note that the City Executive Board on 5th December 2012 agreed the recommendations as detailed in Annex 5 to the report that relate to public engagement and that Officers are working on their implementation;
- (f) To agree that a Governance Working Party should meet each year to review operational practice and decide what changes, if any, to be recommended to Council;
- (g) To authorise the Head of Law and Governance to make all changes to the Constitution to give effect to the agreed recommendations.

155. ANNUAL LETTINGS PLAN - ALLOCATIONS PERCENTAGES 2013/14

Council had before it the following (previously circulated, now appended):

- (1) Report of the Head of Housing which was submitted to the City Executive Board on 10th April 2013. The report presented for approval the proposed percentage targets for the allocation of social housing in 2013/14;
- (2) Extract from the minutes of the City Executive Board held on 10th April 2013

Councillor Scott Seamons moved and spoke to the report.

Council agreed:

- (a) To note the performance against the Annual Lettings Plan for 2012/13 (1st April 2012 to 31st January 2013);
- (b) To approve the Annual Lettings Plan for 2013/14.

156. CITY EXECUTIVE BOARD DECISIONS (MINUTES) AND SINGLE EXECUTIVE MEMBER DECISIONS (MINUTES)

Council had before it minutes (previously circulation, now appended) of the City Executive Board and Single Executive Member meetings held since the last meeting of Full Council.

- (a) City Executive Board decisions 21st March 2013 (Minutes)
 - (1) Minute 102 Finance, Performance and Risk Quarter 3 Progress 2012/13. In response to Councillor Fooks, Councillor Turner said that he was angry at the welfare cuts and that budget for Local Government from the Department for Communities and Local Government was to be further reduced. He acknowledged that the processing of smaller planning applications under the proposed changes to planning would be yet another burden on Local Authorities. He added that the Council was committed to tackling poverty.
- (b) <u>City Executive Board decisions 10th April 2013 (Minutes)</u>
 - (1) Minute 113 Draft affordable housing and planning obligations supplementary planning document. In response to questions Councillor Turner supported by Councillor Simmons expressed disappointment that the document was being challenged by Merton College.

157. RECOMMENDATIONS AND REPORTS FROM SCRUTINY AND OTHER COMMITTEES

No reports were submitted from Scrutiny and other Committees.

158. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

- (a) Questions notified in time for replies to be provided before the Council meeting
 - (1) Question to the Board Member City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Jean Fooks

Dial-a-Ride bus service

When will the City Council contract with the County Council Integrated Transport Unit for the provision of a second Dial-a-Ride bus for the elderly and less mobile citizens of Oxford?

Response: We are currently reviewing usage statistics for dial a ride and are looking at alternative community transport methods to ensure that any additional monies committed add usefully to services in the city. I expect that we will have come to a conclusion

within a month from now. I am more than happy to share the data with Councillor Fooks.

Councillor Fooks in a supplementary question asked if the elderly users had been consulted. In response Councillor Cook said that they could continue to use the existing service and it was important that any change to the service was done right.

(2) Question to the Leader of the Council (Councillor Bob Price) from Councillor Graham Jones

Break the bag habit campaign

Will the Leader kindly inform us if replies have been received from our MPs Andrew Smith and Nicola Blackwood in response to the Council's unanimous motion on the issue of plastic bags?

Response: As of the date of this meeting a response had been received from Andrew Smith MP, but not from Nicola Blackwood MP.

(3) Question to the Leader of the Council (Councillor Bob Price) from Councillor Jean Fooks

Town Hall café

The story of the Town Hall café has been an embarrassment to the City Council. How much has been spent on the several refurbishments to date, how many months has it actually been operational since it first opened?

Response: The Town Hall Café first opened in 2006 and was fully operational until November 2011. In October 2011, the contract with the caterers (Fosters) came to an end which provided an opportunity to look at the café provision. A procurement exercise was undertaken and this resulted in the appointment of a new caterer (Ambassador) to run the café. Ambassador proposed changes to the café offer, with an increased space, longer opening hours, higher quality food and a desire to host evening events. A refurbishment was agreed as part of this exercise (£37k allocated from the budgeted Town Hall repairs and maintenance programme) which would give a return on investment based on new rental figures within 3 years.

The café was closed in November 2011 whilst the procurement exercise and refurbishments were being progressed. A pop-up café operated in the space for 6 months in 2012. The refurbished café opened in October 2012. This long period of closure arose because of contractual, design and construction issues.

Unfortunately the new café suffered operating difficulties and was closed for a month in March 2013 whilst another contractor was identified. Lemon Zest now operate the facility successfully on behalf of the Council.

Councillor Fooks in a supplementary question asked how much money had been lost. In response Councillor Price said that the café had been extensively advertised and information was included in literature that promoted the Museum.

(b) Questions notified by the deadline in the Constitution where no reply in advance of the meeting was given

(4) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Jim Campbell

Covered Market - Consultants

Can you tell us how much was paid to the Council's consultants to draw up the terms of the Council's 2012 Rent Review?

Response: The Council went through a competitive tender process. It would be commercially sensitive to confirm fees to be charged for completing the reviews whilst they are still being negotiated.

(5) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Jim Campbell

Covered Market – Rent increase

Can you as the portfolio holder explain to us how some proposed rents in the 2012 Rent Review have increased by more than 50% to cover a 5 year period when inflation was less than 20% and at a time of a severe economic downturn?

Response: The Council has appointed an independent Chartered Surveyor based in Oxford to advise on the values of the individual units. The rental values have been assessed by making reference to the available market evidence, including an open market letting within the Covered Market in 2011.

(6) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Jim Campbell

<u>Covered Market – Arbitration expenses</u>

Following the last Rent Review in 2007 the Council paid out £80,000 in arbitration expenses. Can you tell us how much has been paid so far following the 2012 Review, and how much the final sum is likely to be?

Response: An Arbitrator has only recently been appointed and the fees of both the Arbitrator and the Council's advisor will be payable on completion. It is commercially sensitive to confirm the fee basis of the Council's advisor whilst the rent reviews are being negotiated.

(7) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Jim Campbell

Covered Market - Tenancies

Can you please tell us how many new tenancies have been granted in the last five years to *independent local* traders?

Response: There have been 2 new lettings in the last 5 years. This does not include leases which have been assigned by individual tenants in the Covered Market.

(8) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Jim Campbell

Covered Market – Performance enhancement

In January 2012 a report on the Future of the Covered Market contained a list of 12 recommended next steps. In November it was decided to identify consultants who would prepare a Strategy for Performance Enhancement in the Covered Market. Why has this taken so long?

Response: I too am disappointed by the delay. Consultants are now appointed and their recommendations will be received in the near future following completion of their brief. This is not the only thing that the Council has been doing to help the traders.

(9) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Jim Campbell

<u>Covered Market – Market traders</u>

You were quoted in the *Oxford Mail* of October 18th as saying that the crisis facing the Covered Market is partly due to "the age of some of the traders who are looking to retire and cash in their chips". Do you accept that you made this remark and do you still stand by it?

Response: It is true that a number of the tenants are approaching retirement age of say 65 plus, and have therefore decided to attempt to sell their businesses, if possible, as going concerns or failing that sell their leases whilst they may have some value. Whatever sales take place, we are only trying to recoup some of our original investment but, unfortunately, in today's market it is much easier said than done. Those are not my words, but the words of the market traders. That was the context of my comments.

Councillor Campbell in a supplementary question asked if Councillor Cook was confident that the long term future of the Covered Market was in safe hands, given that more than 12 months after the review, the Council and traders were still in negotiations.

In response Councillor Cook said that he was confident and that facts and diplomacy were used when negotiating with the traders. Only one trader had taken up the opportunity with the Council to discuss issues of genuine hardship.

(10) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

Support for Covered Marker traders

Will the Portfolio Holder join me in supporting the Covered Market traders in their campaign to save the market from excessive rent rises?

Response: The new rents are to be set at market rents in accordance with the leases. The Council is being advised by an independent chartered surveyor and officers will consider the situation of individual tenants where there is genuine hardship and some discussions have already taken place.

Councillor Benjamin in a supplementary question asked if the Board Member agreed that the Council should not be obligated to raise the rents to excessive levels.

In response Councillor Cook said that the Council was not raising rents excessively, but taking professional advice and there was an opportunity for the traders to negotiate with the Council.

(11) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

Covered Market – Rent increases of 50%

Does the Portfolio Holder agree that rent increases in the Covered Market in excess of 50% are inappropriate in the current economic climate and will place a large number of traders at risk of losing their businesses and their livelihoods, threatening the existence of the historic market?

Response: I say again, the new rents are to be set at market rents in accordance with the leases. The Council is being advised by an independent chartered surveyor and officers will consider the situation of individual tenants where there is genuine hardship and some discussions have already taken place.

(12) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

<u>Covered Market – Benchmark data</u>

Can the Portfolio Holder provide benchmark data from other local authorities to justify the average 50%, and in some cases as much as 70% proposed increases in Covered Market rents?

Response: It is accepted practice to make reference to comparable evidence of retail properties in Oxford which is then adjusted appropriately depending on the circumstances of the individual unit. I will try to supply the data, but I suspect that it will be commercially sensitive info.

(13) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

Covered Market – Rent rise justification

Can the Portfolio Holder explain the thinking behind such extreme rent rises in the current economic climate?

Response: I say again, the new rents are to be set at market rents in accordance with the leases. The Council is being advised by an independent chartered surveyor and officers will consider the situation of individual tenants where there is genuine hardship and some discussions have already taken place.

Councillor Benjamin in a supplementary question asked if Councillor Cook accepted that there was a huge demand form non-chains for the Cards Galore unit. In response Councillor Cook said that when there was a rental opportunity, the Council had a fiduciary responsibility to get the best value. He acknowledged that he was disappointed not to receive as much interest as on previous occasions when units became available. He added there were 13 expressions of interest and it was right to go out to the open market.

(14) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

Covered Market – Precedent of rent rises

Is the Portfolio Holder aware of the precedent such rent rises will set and how worried other independent traders in Oxford are that if the Covered Market rent rises go ahead other landlords will increase rents at similar levels?

Response: I say again, the new rents are to be set at market rents I do not believe the rent increases would set such a precedent.

(15) Question to the Board Member, City Development (Councillor Colin Cook) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

Covered Market - Petition

Will the Portfolio holder be recommending to members of his group that they show support for local independent traders by signing the Covered Market petition? **Response**: No that will be a matter of personal judgement for the individuals themselves.

What I will do however is encourage them to continue using the covered market for the excellent range of goods they sell and to continue to talk up the Covered Market despite others efforts to talk it down, and for the traders to sell goods people want to buy at reasonable prices.

Councillor Benjamin in response to a supplementary questions asked if Councillor Cook would object to her passing round a petition. In response Councillor Cook did not object.

(16) Question to the Board Member, Leisure (Councillor Van Coulter) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

Temple Cowley Gym replacement

Can the Portfolio Holder explain the difference between the £200,000 allocated in the budget to replace Temple Cowley Gym with new facilities at Oxford Spires, and the contribution towards the £200,000 cost reported in the recent Oxford Mail article about the new gym.

Response: The investment in OSA is not linked to the repair budget at Temple Cowley Pools. It is part of our commitment to support the provision in Cowley and to deliver the Leisure Strategy. The Leisure Strategy (2009) states; The City also needs to work more closely with schools to increasingly open up their sites to the community...... less than one minute drive from Temple Cowley is Oxford Community School. The school site is already open until 10.00pm offering commendable community access......

Councillor Benjamin in a supplementary question said that the allocation of the £200k had not been answered and requested a written response.

(17) Question to the Board Member, Leisure (Councillor Van Coulter) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

Opening hours of the Gym at Oxford spires School

Can the Portfolio Holder inform me of the planned opening hours for the new Gym at Oxford Spires School, how this will fit in with the school timetable, and how this will differ from the current opening hours of the Temple Cowley Gym that it will apparently replace.

Response: The gym project is at an early stage and the opening hours have not been developed.

Councillor Benjamin in a supplementary question asked if the Board Member guaranteed that the new gym would give the same

access as the gym at the Temple Cowley Pools. In response Councillor Coulter said that he would take this into account.

(18) Question to the Board Member, Leisure (Councillor Van Coulter) from Councillor Elise Benjamin

Oxford Spires Academy Gym and public safety

Can the Portfolio Holder explain what plans are in place to safeguard school children at Oxford Spires Academy once the gym is open to the public.

Response: This is not a new matter for the school and they have effectively used the school as a community facility for many years. They will of course review their safeguarding arrangements as the plans for the facility progresses.

(19) Question to the Board Member, Housing (Councillor Scott Seamons) from Councillor Craig Simmons

Community co-owned housing - Barton development

Will you consider including community owned co-housing in the Barton development and/or look for suitable sites in Oxford where co-housing could be sited?

Response: Councillors and Officers had met with the Co-Housing Group and were very open to opportunities as they came forward.

With regard to Barton, there is a joint venture in place between the City Council and Grosvenor with set objectives and set procurement policies for sales to householders. There is already a range of pre-qualified house builders drawn up for the bidding process. However this does not preclude other interested parties such as Oxford Co-Housing from joining the list. They will be expected to pay the going rate and Oxford Co-Housing is aware of this.

The Councils priority remains to progress the building of new social rented housing in the City.

(20) Question to the Board Member, Housing (Councillor Scott Seamons) from Councillor Craig Simmons

Rogue Landlord prosecutions

Will the portfolio holder join with me in welcoming tough action on rogue landlords. But could he also explain what went wrong in the recent prosecution of an East Oxford 'slum landlord' that resulted in him being given a lighter sentence because Oxford City Council failed to inform magistrates he had previous convictions.

Response: Councillor Ed Turner, Board Member, Finance and Efficiency responded as follows:

The officer who leads the investigation does not normally attend the first hearing of the case as they are not needed to give evidence. In this instance the defendant pleaded guilty straight away. The legal representative who presented the case to the Magistrates had not been made aware that the defendant had previously been prosecuted.

The system for passing files over for prosecution has now been changed, so that all relevant matters are explicitly referred to. Given that, sentencing is a matter for the Court. We can't be certain that the fines would have been greater had the previous convictions been drawn to its attention. The Court is still obliged to consider the mitigation being put forward by the defendant and obliged to give credit for a timely guilty plea and in particular take into account their means and ability to pay.

(21) Question to the Board Member, Cleaner Greener Oxford (Councillor John Tanner) from Councillor David Williams

Air quality measurement

Measuring air quality is an important function of the local Authority. A few years ago the authority moved from just measuring the quality of the air in the obvious centres such as Carfax to also monitoring standards in numerous other hot spots around the City such as the Plain, Summertown Shops, Weirs Lane and Headington

Shops.

The reported failure of the UK to hit targets set by the EU on air quality will very soon become a major issue with perhaps the Government passing on the fine they face to local authorities and holding them responsible for their failure to meet the EU health standards.

Could the Portfolio holder confirm that the local authority has been monitoring the local hot spots away from the City centre. Could he give the measurements taken at those localities and the dates and times of the testing.

Could the Portfolio holder also give an assurance that Oxford has met the EU standards and will not be involved in any dispute with central government about meeting targets.

Response: Some monitoring had taken place away from the City Centre and I will e-mail Members the measurements in due course.

With regard to meeting EU Standards, broadly yes, we have met them and taking steps to prevent polluting buses from coming through the City.

I will be meeting Officers on $23^{\rm rd}$ April 2013 as this is a very important issue.

Councillor Williams in a supplementary question asked if the Board Member was aware that the Government was facing a substantial fine from Europe and blame will be pushed to Local Authorities. Was he aware that he will need to prepare a defence.

In response Councillor Tanner said that the main concern was that we made sure we have clean air for the people of Oxford. He did not believe that spending more money on monitoring would make the air better.

(22) Question to the Leader of the Council (Councillor Bob Price) from Councillor Craig Simmons

Cycle King shop fire - Fire Service

Will the Leader join me in congratulating the fire service for their prompt action in tackling the serious fire at Cycle King on the Cowley Road on 31st March which was contained without loss of life or serious injury.

Response: I am happy to join Councillor Simmons on this. I can't say what can be done yet to compensate traders, but I will get back to him on this.

(23) Question to the Leader of the Council (Councillor Bob Price) from Councillor Craig Simmons

Cycle King shop fire – Compensation for other traders

Will the Leader consider what can be done to compensate those businesses either side of Cycle King who were forced to close due to the fire - many of whose trade remains affected by the pavement closure.

Response: See response to question 22.

159. STATEMENTS ON NOTICE FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

Councillor Oscar Van Nooijen at the instruction of the West Area Planning Committee in respect of the business it had been dealing with on the Roger Dudman Way development by Oxford University for student accommodation, made the following statement.

"Council will recall it asked in December 2012 for the Committee to receive a report from officers firstly to consider whether or not the development was in compliance with the planning permission that had been granted, and secondly, whether to consider if there were other matters which needed to be looked at. This report came to the February 2013 meeting of the Committee.

The Committee considered the report and noted it and did a number of other things, the most important of which was to instruct Planning Officers to open negotiations with the University to ameliorate the size and impact of the development. The Committee took that decision because it felt that the

emerging size and impact of the development were not acceptable and in line with what it expected to see. In taking that decision the Committee also noted that what was being constructed as it was advised by officers, was in compliance with the planning permission which had been granted, none the less, it still wished to see some changes.

The Committee did a third thing which was to set up a working party which it intended to include representatives of the Civic Society, other amenity societies and the Protect Port Meadow Campaign to learn general lessons about the way in which the application had been handled, and more generally the way in which consultation should be done on applications of that sort.

In respect of that action point, no further action has been taken. The reason for this was that the Council soon afterwards received notice of a legal challenge and the advice to both the Protect Port Meadow Campaign and the City Council was that it should refrain from a meeting of a working group of that sort until after the matter had been dispatched.

At its April meeting last week the Committee received an interim report from the Head of City Development. This report outlined the negotiations that had taken place with the University up to that point, which were nugatory. An exchange of letters were shown to the Committee which showed that the University was resisting any attempts to negotiate a reduction in the size of the buildings of any sort, but that it was open to considering cosmetic measures to reduce the visual impact of the development. However no details of those measures were provided.

The Committee was dissatisfied with this interim report and resolved to receive a full report as soon as possible. Resolved to send the Leader of the Council to negotiate with the Vice-Chancellor directly, resolved to report back to the full Council and resolved that the Chair of the Committee should write to the Vice-Chancellor to explain the position and to remind the University of Oxford that the authority retained the ability to pursue further measures including discontinuance if in the future it decided to do so.

I should emphasise that in the event of the authority wishing to go down that path, that would not be a decision of the West Area Planning Committee, we do not have delegated authority to take a decision of that momentum. So that would be coming back to full Council, which I suppose was part of the reason why the Committee instructed me to update you this evening."

160. PETITION - "TO BENEFIT THE PEOPLE OF OXFORD"

The Head of Law and Governance submitted a report (previously circulated, now appended) which advised on the procedure that Council needed to follow under the Council's Petitions Scheme in respect of large petitions and provided information specifically on the petition concerning "To benefit the people of Oxford".

Nigel Gibson the head petitioner presented the petition and spoke on its contents.

Following Nigel Gibson's presentation, Council debated the contents of the petition.

Councillor Coulter seconded by Councillor Price proposed the following motion:

"This Council acknowledges the petition before it, but resolves that the City Executive Board should not introduce further delay and that the City Council needs to move towards construction of a new and fit for purpose pool at the earliest possible date"

Council agreed:

- (a) To thank Nigel Gibson for presenting the "To benefit the people of Oxford" petition;
- (b) That this Council acknowledged the petition before it, but resolved that the City Executive Board should not introduce further delay and that the City Council needed to move towards construction of a new and fit for purpose pool at the earliest possible date.

161. PETITION - "SAVE R&R DANCE STUDIOS - HOME OF DANCE CONNECTION"

The Head of Law and Governance submitted a report (previously circulated, now appended) which advised on the procedure that Council needed to follow under the Council's Petitions Scheme in respect of large petitions and provided information specifically on the petition concerning "Save R&R Dance Studios – Home of Dance Connection".

Sam Clifton and William Rodwell as Head Petitioners presented the petition and spoke on its contents.

Following the presentation from Sam Clifton and William Rodwell, Council debated the contents of the petition.

Councillor Price seconded by Councillor Turner proposed the following motion:

"Council welcomes the petition on the retention of the Dance Studios at the Oxford Stadium. Council notes that the petition provides a strong endorsement of the City Council's planning policy which retains the Stadium site for leisure provision and does not identify it as suitable for housing development. Council further notes that the planning application for the site from Galliard Homes will be considered in the near future by the East Area Planning Committee and draws the attention of Officers and the Members of the Committee to the terms of the petition".

Council agreed:

(a) To thank Sam Clifton and William Rodwell for presenting the petition "Save R&R Dance Studios – Home of Dance Connection" (b) To welcome the petition on the retention of the Dance Studios at the Oxford Stadium. To note that the petition provided a strong endorsement of the City Council's planning policy which retained the Stadium site for leisure provision and did not identify it as suitable for housing development. To further note that the planning application for the site from Galliard Homes would be considered in the near future by the East Area Planning Committees and the attention of Officers and the Members of the Committee is drawn to the terms of the petition.

162. MOTIONS ON NOTICE

(1) <u>Expansion of powers of the Planning Inspectorate</u> – (Proposer Councillor Ed Turner)

Council opposes the proposal of September 2012 to remove from local authorities who fail to meet centrally set targets the ability to determine planning applications in their areas, and believes that such a move is an unwarranted assault on local democracy.

Following a debate, Council voted and the Motion was adopted.

(2) <u>Practicality of monthly payments – The Universal Credit</u> - (Proposer Councillor Mike Rowley)

This Council notes the serious concerns that have been raised about monthly direct payments of "universal credit" by many charities and professional organisations, with Crisis warning the Government that the system of monthly payments "fails to recognise that many employees are paid on a weekly or fortnightly basis, especially in low paid work. People used to receiving more regular payments may struggle to manage their finances across a month long period".

This Council deplores the potentially seriously damaging effect on gender equality and child poverty, as the Women's Resource and Development Agency have pointed out: "It is estimated that in 80 per cent of cases Universal Credit will be paid to the male partner in the household. This is a hugely retrograde step in terms of progressing gender equality and, we would contend, tackling child poverty. We are very concerned about the transfer of resources from the purse to the wallet and the backward step in terms of enabling women's financial autonomy."

This Council, further notes that Citizens' Advice have calculated that 8.5 million people in Britain have never used the internet and a further 14.5 million people have limited computer skills. We are deeply concerned therefore that some 37% of the population, almost certainly including a disproportionate percentage of benefit claimants, will find it difficult to obtain what they are entitled to if they have to apply online, and help in person is not easily accessible.

This Council believes that, at the very least, the category of "vulnerable" claimants, to be awarded exceptions from this regime of payment, should be drawn broadly, and include residents with problematic credit and debt

problems as well as those with health problems or a disability making money management difficult.

This Council urges the Government to think again about the practicality of monthly payments and of online benefit claims; and requests the Leader and the Chief Executive write to the Prime Minister making our views known.

Following a debate, Council voted and the Motion was carried.

(3) <u>Local Housing Allowance rates in Oxford</u> – (Proposer Councillor Mike Rowley)

Council notes that Oxford is in the centre of a "Broad Rental Market Area" including substantial parts of Oxfordshire for the purposes of calculating Local Housing Allowance rates, despite the fact that rent Oxford within the city boundaries one of the most expensive places to live in the Country, and income here is relatively low. Consequently, for those renting privately, rents take up 55% of average income in Oxford, and this has been predicted by the National Housing Federation to increase by as much as 55% by 2020.

Council further notes that the Local Housing Allowance, the rate at which this Council must pay Housing Benefit, is due to increase by only 1%, rather than CPI, for two years from 2014/15.

Council believes it is likely that the combination of both policies will render Oxford completely unaffordable for anyone needing to rent privately on a low income, and calls on the Chief Executive to lobby for the boundaries of the Broad Rental Market Area to be redrawn and a CPI increase in the LHA rate to be agreed for our city.

Council opposes in the strongest terms government policies which will have the effect of forcing people on low incomes out of Oxford.

Following a debate, Council voted and the Motion was carried.

(4) <u>Campaign for Real Ale (CAMRA) as a consultee on pub-related planning applications</u> – (Proposer Councillor Elise Benjamin)

CAMRA, (the Campaign for Real Ale) is an independent, voluntary organisation campaigning for real ale, community pubs and consumer rights. Formed in 1971, CAMRA has 144,878 members across the world, and has been described as the most successful consumer campaign in Europe. CAMRA has an active Oxford Group including a Planning Sub-Committee.

CAMRA supports well-run pubs as the centres of community life – whether in rural or urban areas – and believes their continued existence plays a critical social and economic role in UK culture.

Council acknowledges that CAMRA have valuable experience that should be given significant weight when determining planning applications with regard to public houses.

Council resolves:

- (1) to include the local CAMRA branch as a statutory consultee on pub-related planning applications.
- (2) that officers should use the Viability Test produced by CAMRA for use by Local Planning Authorities whenever the viability of a pub is questioned in relation to a planning application.

Councillor Colin Cook moved an amendment:

To delete all the text after Council resolves and replace with:

- (1) To note that whilst the Council does not have the power to make CAMRA a statutory consultee it will facilitate the circulation of the weekly planning list to nominated CAMRA representatives;
- (2) To ask Officers to come forward with proposals for strengthening the criteria set out in Policy RC.18 of the Oxford Local Plan, concerning the change of use of Public Houses;
- (3) To ask Officers to set out the timescales for formulating, consulting on, and implementing such changes.

The mover of the substantive Motion, Councillor Elise Benjamin accepted the amendment and following a debate Council voted and the amended Motion was adopted as follows:

CAMRA, (the Campaign for Real Ale) is an independent, voluntary organisation campaigning for real ale, community pubs and consumer rights. Formed in 1971, CAMRA has 144,878 members across the world, and has been described as the most successful consumer campaign in Europe. CAMRA has an active Oxford Group including a Planning Sub-Committee.

CAMRA supports well-run pubs as the centres of community life – whether in rural or urban areas – and believes their continued existence plays a critical social and economic role in UK culture.

Council acknowledges that CAMRA have valuable experience that should be given significant weight when determining planning applications with regard to public houses.

Council resolves:

- (1) To note that whilst the Council does not have the power to make CAMRA a statutory consultee it will facilitate the circulation of the weekly planning list to nominated CAMRA representatives;
- (2) To ask Officers to come forward with proposals for strengthening the criteria set out in Policy RC.18 of the Oxford Local Plan, concerning the change of use of Public Houses;

(3) To ask Officers to set out the timescales for formulating, consulting on, and implementing such changes.

(5) <u>EDF suing Oxford residents</u> – (Proposer Councillor Craig Simmons)

This Council is committed to playing its part in delivering a low carbon future. It also recognises and respects the rights of its citizens to engage in peaceful protest.

This Council is therefore deeply concerned at the attempt by energy giant EDF to sue 21 protesters, including three Oxford residents, for £5m following a peaceful action at an EDF power station to raise awareness of UK Government policy to build 40 new gas power stations. This is despite the fact that this could lead to carbon emissions in excess of those permitted under the Climate Change Act.

This Council believes that the normal process of law should be allowed to run its course and that this private action which is aimed at intimidating concerned citizens is both inappropriate and disproportionate.

This Council therefore agrees to raise the matter with our local MPs and write to EDF expressing its concern in relation to its own citizens.

Councillor Craig Simmons with the agreement of Council withdrew his Motion on Notice.

(6) <u>Mitigating the impact of the bedroom tax</u> – (Proposer Councillor Sam Hollick)

This Council:

- (a) Notes that on 1 April 2013 new restrictions were introduced by the UK Government affecting working-age households occupying social housing such that reductions are to be applied to housing benefit payments where tenants are deemed to be under-occupying their homes. This has been called the "bedroom tax"
- (b) Notes that the restrictions are estimated to affect 980 households in council and registered social landlord tenancies.
- (c) Notes that there are currently around 2000 households in Housing Need Priority Bands 1-4 on the housing register, with turnover of available housing being severely limited at 550 for 2011/12 (1).
- (d) Therefore resolves that, in determining when and whether to initiate and pursue proceedings to recover a tenancy as a consequence of rent arrears, the council will:
 - (i) Calculate the sum by which the household's housing benefit payment has been reduced by under-occupancy restrictions
 - (ii) Disregard that sum in relation to action for recovery of the tenancy (eviction).

(e) Further resolves to consider all other actions open to this council including use of discretionary housing payments, offers of alternative accommodation where appropriate, flexibility with rents and service charges, and other possible approaches - to avoid the adverse impact of occupancy restrictions upon the people of Oxford.

Councillor Hollick moved an amendment to his own Motion as follows:

- (a) To replace point (d) with the following words: Recognises that the bedroom tax is one of a number of changes to social security provision that will hit the most vulnerable and economically disadvantaged hardest.
- (b) To change the lettering of the original point (d) to (e);
- (c) To change he original point (e) to point (f);
- (d) To add a new point (g) with the following words 'Further resolves to identify those tenants that have lost income due to other welfare changes to the purpose of providing protection from eviction as described in point (e)'
- (e) To add a new point (h) with the following words 'Supports the building of new social housing especially council housing in Oxford and welcomes the Affordable Homes Project with is providing new affordable housing in partnership with the Homes and Communities Agency'
- (f) To add a new point (i) with the following words 'Will welcome any plans to increase security of tenure in the private rented sector and limit rent increases and other welfare changes'

Councillor Clack moved an amendment as follows:

To replace point (a) with the following words "Notes that on 1 April 2013 the Coalition Government brought in reductions to housing benefit payments where tenants are deemed to be under-occupying their homes. This as been called the "the Bedroom Tax"

To replace point (b) with the following words "Notes that the restrictions are estimated to affect 980 households in Council and registered social landlord tenancies in Oxford"

To replace point (c) with the following words "Notes that there are currently around 2000 households in Housing Need Priority Bands 1-4 on the housing register, with turnover of available housing being severely limited at 565 for 2011/12"

To replace point (d) with the following words "Recognises that the bedroom tax is one of a number of changes to social security provision that will hit the most vulnerable and economically disadvantaged hardest"

To replace point (e) with the following words "Resolves to consider all actions open to this Council – including use of discretionary housing payments, offers of alternative accommodation where appropriate, and other possible approaches – to avoid the adverse impact of occupancy restrictions and other welfare changes upon the people of Oxford"

To insert a new point (f) with the following words "Will support the building of new social housing, especially Council housing in Oxford and welcomes the principle of development on all the sites identified for the partnership programme with the HCA"

To insert a new point (g) with the following words "Will welcome any plans to increase security of tenure in the private rented sector and limit rent increases"

The mover of the substantive Motion (as amended by himself) did not accept the amendment by Councillor Clack.

Following a debate, Council voted and the substantive Motion (as amended by Councillor Hollick) was not adopted. Following a further vote the Motion as amended by Councillor Clack was adopted as follows:

This Council:

- (a) Notes that on 1 April 2013 the Coalition Government brought in reductions to housing benefit payments where tenants are deemed to be under-occupying their homes. This has been called the "the Bedroom Tax"
- (b) Notes that the restrictions are estimated to affect 980 households in council and registered social landlord tenancies in Oxford
- (c) Notes that there are currently around 2000 households in Housing Need Priority Bands 1-4 on the housing register, with turnover of available housing being severely limited at 565 for 2011/12 (1)"
- (d) Recognises that the bedroom tax is one of a number of changes to social security provision that will hit the most vulnerable and economically disadvantaged hardest
- (e) Resolves to consider all actions open to this council including use of discretionary housing payments, offers of alternative accommodation where appropriate, and other possible approaches - to avoid the adverse impact of occupancy restrictions and other welfare changes upon the people of Oxford"
- (f) Will support the building of new social housing, especially council housing, in Oxford and welcomes the principle of development on all the sites identified for the partnership programme with the HCA.
- (g) Will welcome any plans to increase security of tenure in the private rented sector and limit rent increases.

(7) <u>Destitution and Asylum Seekers</u> – (Proposer Councillor Alan Armitage, seconder Councillor John Tanner)

Council recognises the plight of asylum seekers forced to flee their home countries for expressing political or religious opinions which offend their governments, or after having suffered persecution because they belong to a targeted minority.

As a result of exercising their human right of free speech in their own countries, individuals may have received death threats, suffered beatings or torture and threats to their family members, and have been forced then to abandon their homes, their country and all their possessions. Here in Britain, if their asylum claims are refused by the Home Office, they lose financial support and right of access to accommodation. Current laws also prevent them from working. Adult asylum seekers can be left in a cycle of deprivation and poverty that is impossible to break out of. Many are forced into homelessness on the street, and become entirely dependent on the generosity

Council further asks the City Executive Board and the Chief Executive to address this situation by taking the following actions:

- 1. Write on behalf of Council to the Minister of State for Immigration deploring Government policies that force "all rights expired" asylum seekers into destitution while they continue to fight for a safe haven from persecution; seeking a change of policy to allow local authorities to assist refused asylum seekers who are in danger of falling into destitution; asking that such asylum seekers should be able to work to support themselves; and demanding that local authorities should be permitted to provide emergency provision to refused asylum seekers as to other homeless people.
- 2. Ask Oxford's MPs to support the spirit of this motion, to raise the matter in the House of Commons, and to support a change in current laws regarding asylum applications by removing restrictions on local authorities in the support they can provide to destitute asylum seekers.
- 3. Council officers to produce a report summarising existing support for asylum seekers available in Oxford including housing, training, education, and legal advice open to vulnerable asylum applicants.
- 4. The council should work closely with the voluntary sector through a designated officer to provide help, support and advice to asylum seekers and enable a coordinated response to be easily available to those in need at this vulnerable time of their lives.
- 5. Council to join the national campaign "Still Human, Still Here" (a coalition of 29 organisations, including the Church of England and Catholic Archbishop Conferences, Amnesty International and the Red Cross, who are proposing practical solutions to ending the destitution of refused asylum seekers in the UK.)

6. Council to seek further support for this motion and action via the Local Government Association and by encouraging other Councils in the UK to join us on this issue.

Councillor Sam Hollick moved an amendment:

To add a seventh point as follows:

7. Given that many destitute asylum seekers are not 'failed asylum seekers' but are waiting well over a decade for a resolution to valid claims, to explore how Oxford City Council can help and support all asylum seekers, regardless of their status, in a way that is dignified and empowering.

The mover of the substantive Motion did not accept the amendment and following a vote the amendment was not adopted.

Following a vote the Motion un-amended was adopted as follows:

Council recognises the plight of asylum seekers forced to flee their home countries for expressing political or religious opinions which offend their governments, or after having suffered persecution because they belong to a targeted minority.

As a result of exercising their human right of free speech in their own countries, individuals may have received death threats, suffered beatings or torture and threats to their family members, and have been forced then to abandon their homes, their country and all their possessions. Here in Britain, if their asylum claims are refused by the Home Office, they lose financial support and right of access to accommodation. Current laws also prevent them from working. Adult asylum seekers can be left in a cycle of deprivation and poverty that is impossible to break out of. Many are forced into homelessness on the street, and become entirely dependent on the generosity

Council further asks the City Executive Board and the Chief Executive to address this situation by taking the following actions:

- 1. Write on behalf of Council to the Minister of State for Immigration deploring Government policies that force "all rights expired" asylum seekers into destitution while they continue to fight for a safe haven from persecution; seeking a change of policy to allow local authorities to assist refused asylum seekers who are in danger of falling into destitution; asking that such asylum seekers should be able to work to support themselves; and demanding that local authorities should be permitted to provide emergency provision to refused asylum seekers as to other homeless people.
- 2. Ask Oxford's MPs to support the spirit of this motion, to raise the matter in the House of Commons, and to support a change in current laws regarding asylum applications by removing restrictions on local authorities in the support they can provide to destitute asylum seekers.

- 3. Council officers to produce a report summarising existing support for asylum seekers available in Oxford including housing, training, education, and legal advice open to vulnerable asylum applicants.
- 4. The council should work closely with the voluntary sector through a designated officer to provide help, support and advice to asylum seekers and enable a coordinated response to be easily available to those in need at this vulnerable time of their lives.
- 5. Council to join the national campaign "Still Human, Still Here" (a coalition of 29 organisations, including the Church of England and Catholic Archbishop Conferences, Amnesty International and the Red Cross, who are proposing practical solutions to ending the destitution of refused asylum seekers in the UK.)
- 6. Council to seek further support for this motion and action via the Local Government Association and by encouraging other Councils in the UK to join us on this issue.

163. REPORTS AND QUESTIONS ABOUT ORGANISATIONS THE COUNCIL IS REPRESENTED ON

Councillors Fooks asked if a written update on the City Deal could be provided. In response Councillor Price said he was happy to do this and informed Council that workshops would be taking place and information from these would be brought forward for Members information.

164. COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT ON PAY AND PAY POLICY STATEMENT

The Head of Human Resources and Facilities submitted a report (previously circulated, now appended) which detailed the collective agreement on pay and the Pay Policy Statement.

Councillor Bob Price, seconded by Councillor Ed Turner moved and spoke to the report.

Council agreed:

- (a) To note and approve the Collective Agreement on pay dated February 2013, including its non-pay elements;
- (b) To note and approve the amendments to the Council's Annual Pay Policy Statement 2013:
- (c) To authorise the Head of Human Resources and Facilities to make any changes other than pay to collective terms and conditions and Council employment policies in accordance with the collective agreement.

165. REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000

The Head of Law and Governance submitted a report (previously circulated, now appended) which detailed the Council's application of its powers under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.

Councillor Bob Price, seconded by Councillor Ed Turner, moved and spoke to the report.

Council agreed to note the use of the powers under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) for the period 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013 and to note the recent amendments to RIPA relating to judicial approval and custody thresholds.

166. MATTERS EXEMPT FROM PUBLICATION

There were not matters exempt from publication.

The meeting started at 5.00 pm and ended at 9.52 pm

Address to Council from Ian Smith – Chair of City of Oxford Swimming Club

Thank you for the opportunity to speak to you today.

My name is Ian Smith and I am here in my capacity as Chair of City of Oxford Swimming Club to explain the necessity for the new swimming pool at Blackbird Leys to progress.

We have heard much over the past 3 years regarding delays due to legal objections to the project and I firmly believe that the Council should now hear some alternative to the views that have been so widely publicized.

The council now needs to understand that these delays are starting to put the very future of the Club, and the quality of swimming provision in Oxford, at risk.

Considering that there has been an Oxford Swimming Club since 1909 it would be an absolute tragedy if we had to move elsewhere or even folded. It would be an even greater tragedy if swimming provision was affected, reducing the ability of the public to partake and opportunities for children to learn to swim.

At a time when a large number of swimming clubs are experiencing problems the Club is currently growing and becoming more successful. This time last year there was a total of 296 swimmers and 202 Associate members. To date this year we have a total 344 swimmers, an increase of 16%. This has been achieved through the hard work of volunteers, giving their own time to promote swimming (both as a sport and a past time).

I state these figures as it is worth noting that the Club is many times the combined size of the Save Temple Cowley group and the Blackbird Leys group.

We are an inclusive Club and our swimmers cover a large age range, we have 7 year olds entering our Academy squads whilst we have swimmers aged 18 to 70 plus in our very successful Masters Squad. Our disability swimmers have in the past-included Danielle Watts – Para Olympian and currently include Rosie Bancroft who is on the Road to Rio programme. Additionally, we are the disability hub club for Oxfordshire which means that if people with disabilities wish to take up swimming, they come through us and we assist at schools and through the club with a wide range of swimmers who have learning as well as physical disabilities.

COSC is also not just about competitive swimming. Many of the swimming teachers in Oxford and the surrounding area have connections past and present with COSC (COSC used to run the council's learn to swim programme). Our Head Coach also helps with schools learn to swim in a voluntary capacity.

We further support schools swimming by running Primary School and Secondary School Galas in cooperation with Oxford Sports Partnership and also assist Fusion with their Swim Fit programme.

As a Club we rely on having a competition pool (8 lanes 25m with spectator seating) to hold our events and raise funds and we would not be viable without such a facility. After all, where would a football club be without a football pitch?

We also currently rely on Temple Cowley pool heavily for our training using upwards of 110 lane hours per week and spending a large amount of money in the process. Pool time is in short supply and closure without a replacement would be devastating.

Our concerns would not be so great should recent experiences not have led us to believe that Temple Cowley's functional lifespan is severely limited. Whilst the building is still open the pool is rapidly becoming unsuitable for use and we have been forced to cancel a number of training sessions.

Opposition to the Blackbird Leys plan, whilst vociferous, originates from a small number of people with a great desire to protest but with little interest or involvement in swimming (certainly at Temple Cowley).

Whilst well organized, their arguments are disjointed and sometimes hypocritical with their leaders:

- Campaigning that swimming provision should stay within the ring road, whilst using Barton pool.
- Decrying the Blackbird Leys project as too expensive, whilst saying that their preferred option would be a new build at Cowley Marsh (which would cost more).
- Not using the facility or only visiting Temple Cowley for a convenient gym visit when there's a photo shoot.
- Encouraging the Blackbird Leys Town Green campaign and saying that the swimming club are 'elitist' whilst conducting a 'campaign of snobbery' regarding the reasoning for not wanting the move to Blackbird Leys to go ahead.
- Misleading people who sign their petitions. Initially some of our members even signed the petition not realizing that this related to the closure of Temple Cowley and a move to a new pool (which was often conveniently omitted from the request).

Having read their blog I am puzzled what the group's real motivation is. A desire for a greater involvement in local politics perhaps? Or aiming for revenge in a well-publicized dispute with a local politician?

It certainly has nothing to do with future leisure provision for the City!

The group claim that a full refurbishment could be achieved for £3m. They don't say how they arrived at this figure, what it would achieve, but do say it would last for 25 years?

Meanwhile:

- The City Council
- The County Council
- COSC
- Two High Court judges
- Fusion Lifestyle
- The ASA (who's raison d'etre is to encourage and facilitate participation in swimming!)

All say that the Blackbird Leys plan is sound, just and should proceed.

Let us be honest here! Temple Cowley is a 1930's building, and not one of particular architectural interest!

The current pool perches rather precariously on the previous incarnation and is frankly past its sell by date. Large amounts of money will be required over the next few years to keep it functional.

The City needs to move forward with the development of leisure provision and has put plans in place to do so.

The tragedy is that a small, well motivated, but ultimately misguided group has been able to delay the development for 18 months.

Sadly, this has brought things to a crisis point and benefited no one except lawyers.

I therefore implore Oxford City Council (on behalf of the swimming community (present and future) who actually use Temple Cowley pool!) to proceed with building its replacement without haste, before we are left without a pool at all!

This page is intentionally left blank

Address to Council from Peggy Seeger

Once upon a time ... eight Oxford city children went to the swimming pool at the Radley School. November 9, 2012. The occasion was a video shoot. The children were popeyed with wonder. They'd never been in a pool like this. You should have seen them on the two diving boards! There is a diving board at their own pool – Temple Cowley – but it was closed 6 years ago due. Lack of maintenance.

Also, in their pool, many of the lockers don't work, tiles are falling off, paintwork is peeling. Lack of maintenance that would seem to be deliberate for their council has given their pool a very very low budget compared to similar Oxford facilities. But soon these children will have no swimming pool at all because their council has voted to close it, along with the gym, the exercise rooms and the adjacent library. It's a fairy tale with no happily-ever-after.

My name is Peggy Seeger. I'm a singer and songwriter, North American by birth. I settled in the UK in 1956. I've become part of this country, working both for and against various issues. I moved to Oxford in 2010. This year I've identified specifically with the Temple Cowley Pools Campaign. It's my pool too and we've made a song for it. Google it – those children sang in the video along with a dozen other Oxfordians of all ages.

I'm not going to spend my time here talking about the campaign issues. You know all about that. It's because of this Council's attitude towards, and its duplicitous relationship with, such issues that I've decided to come here today. I've joined the Labour Party three times even though my political stance is far left of the Party. I've left the Labour Party twice, each time betrayed by its double-dealing, its conservative policies and the behaviour of its leaders. To me the word labour has positive connotations, among them honest work, democratic practices, community action, listening to others. To all others. I've heard enough about this essentially Labour council, your unilateral decision-making, your overweening ambitions, your statistic-falsifying, your disrespect and actual rudeness to constituents in this council chamber. It's disgraceful.

As I said, I've joined the Labour Party three times and left twice. I've just left for the third time and I'm not ever joining again. This council, this issue, has convinced me that the Labour Party is not worth MY trouble. Does that matter to you? Probably not. If I were Adele, an ex-Spice Girl, Jessica Ennis, then it might. I'm well-known in my field but I'm not a household name so no, I reckon I don't matter.

But then, it seems that there is a lot that doesn't matter to you. It is apparently of no concern to you that an enormous number of Oxford citizens not only don't want a number of your election-driven projects but that they haven't even been consulted before BANG! big old trees come down, SMASH! historic buildings and community facilities are demolished for student residences and questionable commercial ventures. SUPRISE! lovely old Oxford, the unique essence of Port Meadow, is gone, essentially (quote) developed (unquote) out of existence.

It also probably doesn't matter to you that the public has the perception that some of your leading members seem to have a conflict of interest in the instigation of many of these new projects - but we won't go into that. Right now.

I have come to the conclusion that this Labour-heavy Council is a law unto itself, rather like a priesthood. One must have faith to support it. I have never supported anything by faith alone. We put you where you are and we are angry – very angry.

A chain is as strong as its weakest link and this council is a very weak link in the Labour Party. I do still care what the Party does but this time I'll watch it from a safe distance and work in the Green Party, where I feel visible and useful. It's a time for Green Grass Growing anyway, for roots strengthening and joining from underneath – witness the Occupation movement. You're going to be left behind, swept away – and you know it, or you wouldn't be trying so hard to stay on top – at any cost.

Sushila Dhall – Campaign to protect Port Meadow – Address to Council

You will recall that I addressed your December meeting about the outrage and upset that people feel about the vandalism to the views of the Dreaming Spires, and most particularly the Grade I listed St Barnabas spire from the unique common land that is Port Meadow. A most exceptionally beautiful view has been needlessly destroyed. You listened with what mostly appeared to be sympathy and understanding, (with a couple of notable exceptions who think the Roger Dudman Way buildings look fine), and referred the matter to WAPC, who agreed to ask Oxford University to work on ameliorating the height and mass of the buildings in order to restore the damaged views for current and future generations. However these fine words have led to nothing, and now it turns out that WAPC do not have a mandate to request officers to hold such talks with Oxford University. In addition very many irregularities in the planning process have been brought to light, not by this Council but by members of the public who have trawled through background documentation using FOI requests. To name but a few: uncompromising heritage advice from within this Council was ignored and suppressed, the apex of roofs being very minimally lowered in order to justify this being shocking and unacceptable, soil contamination surveys were not carried out, trees are said to be able to be planted where they will not be, and anyway trees will never hide these ugly tall blocks, the view cone has been destroyed, consultation that was said to have taken place did not, numbers of rooms have been fudged, and still not EIA has taken place, meaning that the impact of light pollution from these buildings, amongst other things, has not been assessed. A figure of £20 million to rectify the situation has been bandied about without basis as scaremongering to try to get people to react against our campaign, and has not yet been. clearly stated by Oxford City Council as a figure without basis. These things have made us lose faith in the workings of this City Council, and we therefore support the legal challenge which is ongoing. However there is still a chance to redeem yourselves, by accepting things have not gone as they should have, and applying to the Sec of State for revocation of this planning permission. You know it is the right thing to do.

This page is intentionally left blank

Sushila Dhall - Campaign to protect Port Meadow - Address to Council

Officer comments

West Area Planning Committee (WAPC) mandate

Council asked the Head of City Development (HoCD) to bring forward as soon as possible in the New Year, a report to WAPC, setting out any general lessons that need to be learned from the handling of this application and an assessment of the scope for further measures that are legally possible and that would contribute in the long and the short term to mitigate the impact on the views looking south from Port Meadow.

The HoCD submitted a report to the 7 February 2013 meeting of WAPC. The meeting resolved to

- (1) instruct the HoCD to negotiate with the University of Oxford in order to ameliorate the size and impact of the development
- instruct the HoCD to report back to on the progress of those negotiations (by the April meeting at the latest;
- (3) establish a working party to recommend to the Council any changes to policies or procedure which the process of handling and determination of the application (including the pre-application and consultation stages) might suggest would be desirable
- (1) and (2) are intrinsic to assessing the scope for further measures as referred to in the resolution of Council
- (3) is intrinsic to establishing general lessons to be learned as referred to in the resolution of Council

Officers are therefore content that WAPC did not exceeded the scope of its authority

This page is intentionally left blank

William Clark - Address to Council

I have been told by certain people the only reason we are pursuing this case is to block the development of your state of the art swimming facility to ensure the survival of the Temple Cowley pool, well that's not true. Had you stuck with your original plan you would probably been swimming in it now but then you go and change the location so its facing Pegasus road, that's the reason we are opposing you and have continued to lay before you countless reason why this is a bad idea, but you still continue to heap more onto the ever growing cost by trying to defend your inability to get things right.

I read in the Oxford Mail the other day a letter from a member of this chamber who had a birthday and was looking forward to good news about the town green application to celebrate this momentous occasion. Well for your information it's just started to rain on your parade and by now you will be aware that the town green application has been granted a judicial review and even if you don't think so there is still a long way to go until you can dig up our green space.

May I advise the member if and when he has recourse to tell the public of his desires he must get his facts right and not feed the public with half truths made to confuse and not inform and as my grandmother used to say "never count your chickens until they are hatched"

On Tuesday 16th April the barrister representing the city council in the Royal Courts of Justice <u>stated</u> "we are running down certain swimming pools" was this intentional or was I just hearing things? Also I did notice in the local paper that the development of the Oxpens will not see the ice rink altered or moved, at this time. Can I please ask what your intention is for this structure as your legal team also referred to ice rink in his address, will we see this too placed on the valuable green space called Blackbird Leys Park?

We have not been idle and continue to pursue this action and at its present time scale could easily last until the New Year. Can you afford to wait that long, will your contractor loose his nerve and pull out or perhaps your finances will falter.

It's good news for us as we will do all we can to make you see sense and try to inform you, again, there are alternatives to the scheme you are proposing. Your budget of 13 million pounds could go even higher at this rate. Where is your financial cap which makes the structure unviable? Or perhaps we have already passed it and you are sticking it out in the hope you are successful and can persuade the public it was a great deal and they only need to pay for it for the next 25 years before it breaks even.

When will you see sense and yield to the inevitable will of the public and listen to what we are saying before you charge off like a bull at a gate with the same result, a headache.

This page is intentionally left blank

Sietske Boeles - Address to Council

My name is Sietske Boeles. I am speaking on behalf of East Oxford Residents Associations Forum about the surplus of student accommodation in East Oxford particularly since Brookes University has reported an unexpected high drop in its full time student numbers by 800. As result OBU reported to have 250 empty units (including graduate accommodation) on its Headington Hill campus site. We understand there are more empty rooms in the Paul Kent Halls in Temple Cowley and at Harcourt Hill campus.

East Oxford Residents Association Forum has repeatedly warned that the Council has approved too many planning applications for student housing in our area. We are angry and frustrated that the Planning Department and some councillors have refused to listen to the local residents who now have to suffer the consequences of bad decision making.

We are in particular angered at the granting of planning permission for the student housing development at St Clement's Car park which is likely to damage local businesses by taken away a well- used public car parking provision. This site also offered an opportunity to build much needed affordable housing in East Oxford, as we believe that since 2008 not one not one affordable house was built in one of the three East Oxford wards.

The council needs to acknowledge that it has made a major mistake in permitting this student housing development, needs to understand the impact on the local community and change its policy to make sure this never happens again .

This page is intentionally left blank